Aus dem Experimental and Clinical Research Center (ECRC) und der Medizinischen Klinik m. S. Nephrologie und Internistische Intensivmedizin der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels in the murine renal vasculature

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Frau Lan Chen

aus Fujian, China

Datum der Promotion: 08.12.2017

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Abstrakt	5
1. Introduction	6
1.1 Functional TRPV1/4 in kidney vasculature	6
1.2 KV7.1 channels and the regulation of renal arterial vascular tone	6
1.3 TRPV1 channels in acute kidney injury (AKI)	6
2. Method	9
2.1 RNA isolation and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	9
2.2 Measurement of vascular reactivity	9
2.3 Perfusion of kidney vasculature	9
2.4 Perfusion of outer medullary descending vasa recta (DVR)	9
2.5 Cell culture and transfection	9
2.6 Single cell fluorescence measurements of transfected HEK293	10
2.7 Animal model of renal I/R	10
2.8 Serum creatinine measurements	10
2.9 Histological evaluation of the kidneys	10
2.10 Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin immunohistochemistry	10
2.11 Immunohistochemical detection of Ly-6B.2 positive cells	10
2.12 Determination of endovanilloid profiles	11
3. Results	12
4. Discussion	13
4.1 TRPV1 in the kidney	13
4.2 TRPV4 in the kidney	15
4.3 KV7.1 channels in renal arteries	16
5. Bibliography	17
Affidavit+Detailed statement of originality	22
Selected publications	25
#1 Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the re	enal
vasculature	25
#2 Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced AKI	36

#3 Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone?	46
Curriculum Vitae	59
Complete list of publications	60
Acknowledgements	61

Zusammenfassung

Transiente Rezeptorpotential Vanilloid 1- (TRPV1) und 4- (TRPV4) Kationenkanäle fördern die endothelabhängige Relaxation mesenterialer Arterien der Maus. TRPV1positive sensorische Nerven sind in der Niere weit verbreitet. Unbekannt ist jedoch, welche Rolle TRPV1 und TRPV4 im renalen Gefäßsystem spielen und ob sich eine Hemmung dieser Kanäle nachteilig auf akute Nierenschädigung (AKI) auswirkt. Die untersuchte Hypothese war, dass TRPV1/4 eine Funktion bei der endothelabhängigen Vasodilatation von Nierenarterien haben und es wurde die Rolle von TRPV1-Kanälen in I/R-induziertem AKI untersucht. Die Verteilung funktioneller TRPV1/4-Kanäle in verschiedenen Segmenten des Nierengefäßsystems wurde untersucht. Mesenteriale Arterien dienten als Kontrollgefäße. Auch K_V7.1-Kanäle (spannungsgesteuerte K⁺-Kanäle) werden in renalen Arterien exprimiert und es wurde vermutet, dass ihre Stimulation eine starke Relaxation erzeugt. Daher wurde weiterhin die Hypothese getestet, dass Kv1.7-Kanäle den arteriellen Tonus kontrollieren. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass der TRPV1-Agonist Capsaicin Maus-Mesenterialarterien mit einer EC50 (Konzentration der Substanz, die eine halbmaximale Reaktion hervorruft) von 25 nM, große Nierenarterien der Maus oder die absteigenden Vasa recta der Ratte jedoch erst bei >100-fach höherer Konzentration relaxierte. Der TRPV4-Agonist GSK1016790A relaxierte große Nierenarterien, Mesenterialarterien und Vasa recta mit einer EC50 von 18 nM, 63 nM bzw. ~10 nM. Diese Effekte waren endothelabhängig und wurden durch den TRPV4-Antagonisten AB159908 (10 µM) inhibiert. Capsaicin und GSK1016790A führten zu vaskulärer Dilatation bei isolierten perfundierten Nieren (Maus) mit einer EC50 von 23 nM bzw. 3 nM. Der Ky7.1-Öffner R-L3 relaxierte konzentrationsabhängig Mesenterial- und Nierenarterien (EC50 ~1,4 μ M) von Wildtyp-Mäusen (Kcng1+/+). Diese Relaxation wurde durch die Ky7.1-Inhibitoren Chromanol-293B und HMR1556 oder XE991 (pan-K_V7-Blocker) nicht beeinflusst. Capsaicin milderte die Folgen von AKI bei Mäusen, analysiert durch Serum-Kreatinin-Spiegel, tubuläre Schäden, das Auftreten von Neutrophilen-Gelatinase-assoziierten Lipocalinen (NGAL) und Ly-6B.2-positiven polymorphonukleären inflammatorischen Zellen in geschädigten Nieren. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass TRPV1 eine enge, diskrete Verteilung in Widerstandsgefäßen und TRPV4 eine allgemeinere Verteilung entlang verschiedener Gefäßabschnitte bei Mäusen aufweist. Die Aktivierung von TRPV1-Kanälen verringert die Schäden bei I/R-induzierter AKI. K_V7.1-Kanäle sind nicht erforderlich für die Kontrolle des arteriellen Tonus durch alpha1-adrenerge Vasokonstriktoren bei Nierenarterien in Mäusen.

Abstract

Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) and 4 (TRPV4) cation channels promote endothelium-dependent relaxation of mouse mesenteric arteries. TRPV1positive sensory nerves are widely distributed in the kidney. However, it is unknown what role TRPV1 and TRPV4 play in the renal vasculature, and it is unclear whether inhibition of these channels is detrimental in AKI or not. Here, the hypothesis was tested that TRPV1 and/or TRPV4 play a role in endothelium-dependent vasodilation of renal blood vessels, and the role of TRPV1 channels in I/R-induced AKI was examined. The distribution of functional TRPV1/4 along different segments of the renal vasculature was studied. Mesenteric arteries were examined as control vessels. In addition, K_V7.1 voltage-gated potassium channels are expressed in renal arteries and have been suggested to evoke profound relaxation upon stimulation. Here, the hypothesis that K_V7.1 channels control arterial tone was tested. The results showed that the TRPV1 agonist capsaicin relaxed mouse mesenteric arteries with an EC₅₀ (the concentration of the drug that elicits a half-maximal response) of 25 nM, but relaxation of large mouse renal arteries or rat descending vasa recta was only observed at >100-fold higher concentrations. The TRPV4 agonist GSK1016790A relaxed large conducting renal arteries, mesenteric arteries, and vasa recta with EC₅₀ of 18 nM, 63 nM, and approximately 10 nM, respectively. These effects were endothelium-dependent and inhibited by a TRPV4 antagonist, AB159908 (10 µM). Capsaicin and GSK1016790A produced vascular dilation in isolated mouse perfused kidneys at EC₅₀ of 23 nM and 3 nM, respectively. R-L3 (a K_V7.1 opener) produced concentration-dependent relaxation (EC₅₀ of approximately 1.4 μ M) of wild-type (*Kcng1*+/+). This relaxation was not affected by chromanol-293B (K_V7.1 inhibitor), HMR1556 (K_V7.1 inhibitor), or XE991 (pan-K_V7 blocker). Capsaicin ameliorated the outcome of AKI mice, as measured by serum creatinine levels, tubular damage, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin abundance, and Ly-6B.2 positive polymorphonuclear inflammatory cells in injured kidneys. These results demonstrate that TRPV1 has a narrow, discrete distribution in the resistance vasculature and that TRPV4 has a universal, widespread distribution along different vascular segments in mice. Activation of TRPV1 channels ameliorates I/R-induced AKI, but inhibition of these channels does not affect the outcome of AKI. K_V7.1 channels are not required for the control of arterial tone by alpha1 adrenergic vasoconstrictors in the renal arteries of mice.

1. Introduction

1.1 Functional TRPV1/4 in kidney vasculature

Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), a polymodal nonselective cation channel, is expressed in sensory neurons and in non-neuronal tissues¹. Apart from its role as a potent mediator of analgesic effects, TRPV1 also exerts effects in the cardiovascular system². Drugs that target TRPV1 and/or the downstream pathways activated by TRPV1 have been reported to prevent ischemia-induced injury in the kidney³ and in the lung⁴, and to reduce renal injury in mice with deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA)-salt hypertension⁵. The underlying processes are largely unknown, but may involve vascular mechanisms.

Yang et al. identified TRPV1 channels in the endothelium of mouse mesenteric arteries⁶. Notably, TRPV1 activation was recently reported to decrease phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) at threonine 497 (Thr497) in cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells, which led to increased nitric oxide (NO) production and vasodilation⁷. This finding is of particular interest because transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) channels are regarded as key TRPV channels that promote endothelium-dependent relaxation in these and other arteries^{8,9,10}. For instance, calcium sparklets were shown to provide elementary calcium influx through individual TRPV4 channels in mesenteric arteries¹¹.

Although TRPV1 and TRPV4 are expressed in several systemic vascular beds^{5,12}, the relative amount and regional distribution of functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 in the renal circulation are unknown. It was hypothesized that TRPV1/4 are involved in endothelium-dependent vasodilation of renal blood vessels.

1.2 K_V7.1 channels and the regulation of renal arterial vascular tone

 $K_V7.1$ voltage-gated potassium channels are expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) of diverse arteries, including renal arteries^{13,14,15}. Based on pharmacological evidence using R-L3 (a $K_V7.1$ opener) and HMR1556 and chromanol 293B ($K_V7.1$ inhibitors), these channels have been suggested to evoke profound relaxation upon stimulation in various vascular beds in rats¹⁵. However, the specificity of these drugs *in vivo* is uncertain. *Kcnq1-/-* mice and pharmacological tools were applied to determine whether $K_V7.1$ plays a role in the regulation of arterial tone.

1.3TRPV1 channels in acute kidney injury (AKI)

TRPV1-positive sensory nerves are widely distributed in the kidney, suggesting that TRPV1-mediated action may participate in the regulation of renal function under pathophysiological conditions¹⁶. Indeed, sodium excretion in response to sodium loading is impaired in models of salt-sensitive hypertension induced by surgical sensory denervation or by sensory nerve degeneration following capsaicin treatment¹⁷. Blockade of TRPV1 increases blood pressure in Wistar or Dahl salt-resistant rats fed a high, but not normal, salt diet suggesting that high salt intake may activate TRPV1 and confer a protective effect¹⁸. Chronic TRPV1 stimulation by systemic application of capsaicin lowers systemic blood pressure and may involve TRPV1 channels in sensory nerves and blood vessels⁶.

Catheter-based renal denervation (RDN) is a novel technique to lower resistant hypertension by specifically targeting renal sympathetic nerves¹⁹. This procedure is expected to affect the function of TRPV1-rich primary sensory nerves of the renal sympathetic nervous system. Renal sympathetic nerves and circulating catecholamines are believed to be involved in the progressive renal tissue injury that accompanies ischemic acute renal failure^{20,21}. However, further investigation is needed regarding the primary sensory nerves of the renal sympathetic nervous system to understand how they contribute to the pathogenesis of ischemia/reperfusion (I/R)-induced AKI.

Three studies have reported that systemic activation of TRPV1 by capsaicin ameliorates I/R-induced renal dysfunction^{22,23,24}. Capsazepine is a potent blocker of TRPV1 channels^{25,26}, but this drug has not been studied in AKI. Deficiency of TRPV1 genes in mice has been shown to impair cardiac recovery following I/R injury²⁷. It is unknown whether inhibition of TRPV1 channels is detrimental in AKI or not. Knowledge of these effects may have clinical implications by providing a greater understanding of the kidneys' ability to respond to ischemic stimuli after renal denervation therapy.

Objectives

Specifically, the following hypotheses were tested:

- TRPV1 and TRPV4 cation channels promote endothelium-dependent relaxation of mouse mesenteric arteries. However, the role of TRPV1 and TRPV4 in the renal vasculature is largely unknown. It was hypothesized that TRPV1/4 are involved in endothelium-dependent vasodilation of renal blood vessels.
- 2) K_V7.1 voltage-gated potassium channels are expressed in renal arteries. Therefore, K_V7.1 could be involved in regulating arterial tone. To test this hypothesis, *Kcnq1-/-* mice and pharmacological tools were used to determine whether K_V7.1 plays a role in the regulation of arterial tone.
- 3) Stimulation of TRPV1 channels protects against I/R-induced AKI. However, it is unknown whether inhibition of these channels is detrimental in AKI or not. Therefore, the role of TRPV1 channels in I/R-induced AKI was investigated by modulating these channels with capsaicin (a TRPV1 agonist) and capsazepine (a TRPV1 antagonist) and by studying *Trpv1-/-* mice.

This study will demonstrate new findings regarding the function and expression of TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels in the renal vasculature. In addition, it will provide insight into the role of TRPV1 in renal vascular resistance, a response that is critical for the regulation of blood pressure. Moreover, this research aims to determine whether $K_V7.1$ plays a role in regulating renal arterial tone and whether inhibition of TRPV1 channels is detrimental in AKI or not.

2. Method

2.1 RNA isolation and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR).

Total RNA was isolated from kidney, isolated fat-free renal tissue, and mesenteric artery tissue using the RNeasy RNA isolation kit (Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany). RNA concentration and quality were measured with a NanoDrop-1000 spectrophotometer (PeqLab, Erlangen, Germany). Two micrograms of RNA were used for complementary DNA (cDNA) transcription (Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany). Quantitative analysis of target messenger RNA (mRNA) expression was performed with RT-PCR using the relative standard curve method. SYBR green analysis was conducted using an Applied Biosystems 7500 Sequence Detector (Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany). The mRNA levels of target genes were normalized against 18s ribosomal RNA levels²⁸.

- **2.2Measurement of vascular reactivity.** Vascular reactivity was measured in freshly isolated mesenteric arteries and main renal arteries as previously described²⁹. In some experiments, the endothelium was mechanically removed using a hair by rubbing it along the endothelium. Before and after removing the endothelium, endothelial integrity and functionality were confirmed by the relaxant response to acetylcholine (Ach; 1 μ M)²⁸.
- **2.3 Perfusion of kidney vasculature.** Isolated kidney perfusion was performed as described previously^{28,30}.
- **2.4Perfusion of outer medullary descending vasa recta (DVR).** Animals were sacrificed under isoflurane anesthesia. The kidneys were removed, and transversal slices were made along the main axis of the renal medulla. DVR were manually isolated using sharpened forceps, and perfused using concentric micropipettes as described previously^{28,31}.
- 2.5Cell culture and transfection. Human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cells were grown in minimal essential medium (MEM) supplemented with Earl salts (PAA, Pasching, Austria) and with 10% fetal calf serum (PAA), 4 mM L-glutamine (PAA), 100 units/ml penicillin (PAA), and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (PAA) in the presence of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. For the experiments, the cells were plated in 35 mm dishes and placed onto glass coverslips. One to two days after seeding, the cells were transfected with 1 µg of plasmid DNA coding for TRPV1 C-terminally fused to yellow

fluorescent protein (YFP) using X-tremeGENE 9 (Roche Diagnostic, Mannheim, Germany). The cells were used in experiments 15 h post-transfection^{2,28,32}.

- 2.6 Single cell fluorescence measurements of transfected HEK293. [Ca²⁺]_i measurements in single cells were carried out using the fluorescence indicator fura-2-AM in combination with a monochromator-based imaging system (FEI-T.I.L.L. Photonics, Gräfeling, Germany) attached to an inverted microscope (Axiovert 100; Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany)³³. Cells were loaded with 2 μM fura-2-AM (Biomol, Hamburg, Germany) for 30 minutes at 37 °C in a standard solution composed of (in mM) 138 NaCl, 6 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 2.5 CaCl₂, 5.5 glucose, and 10 HEPES (adjusted to pH 7.4 with NaOH). For [Ca²⁺]_i measurements, fluorescence was excited at 340 and 380 nm²⁸.
- **2.7 Animal model of renal I/R**. The model of I/R-induced AKI was established as previously described for rats^{34,35}.
- **2.8Serum creatinine measurements.** Serum creatinine levels were measured by an autoanalyzer (Beckman Analyzer; Beckman Instruments, Munich, Germany).
- **2.9 Histological evaluation of the kidneys**. The kidneys were immersed in 4% buffered formalin for histopathological and immunohistochemical examinations. In total 51 mice underwent surgery; two of them died during the perioperative period and were excluded from the study²⁸. Histomorphometric analysis was performed to evaluate the acute tubular necrosis (ATN) score semiquantitatively in mouse renal parenchyma using hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining. Slides were examined under a light microscope (200X magnification). Acute tubular injury (ATI) was observed in this study to assess the reversible tubular damage due to ischemia³⁵.
- 2.10 Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) immunohistochemistry. NGAL immunohistochemistry was performed on paraffin-fixed kidney sections. Nonspecific binding sites were blocked with 10% normal donkey serum for 30 minutes. Then sections were incubated with NGAL antibody (dilution: 1:300) overnight at 4 °C in a humid chamber. For fluorescence visualization of bound primary antibody, sections were further incubated with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h in a humid chamber at room temperature^{33,35}.

2.11 Immunohistochemical detection of Ly-6B.2 positive cells. Immunohistochemical staining of Ly-6B.2 positive cells was performed on paraffinfixed kidney sections. Antigen retrieval was performed by incubating sections for 10 minutes at 37 °C in a trypsin solution (Sigma). After cooling down, nonspecific

binding sites were blocked with 10% normal donkey serum for 30 minutes. Then the sections were incubated with the rat anti-mouse Ly-6B.2 monoclonal antibody, clone 7/4 (dilution: 1:300) overnight at 4 °C in a humid chamber. For fluorescence visualization of bound primary antibody, sections were further incubated with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h in a humid chamber at room temperature^{35,36}.

2.12 Determination of endovanilloid profiles. Endovanilloid profiles were measured by Lipidomics GmbH (Berlin, Germany).

For a complete description of the methods see:

Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke WB, Kuebler WM, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A, and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481–91.

Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu KY, and Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014;9(10):e109842.

Tsvetkov D, Kaßmann M, Tano JY, **Chen L**, Schleifenbaum J, Voelkl J, Lang F, Huang Y, and Gollasch M. Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? British Journal of Pharmacology. 2017;174(2):150–162.

Copies of these publications are located in the **Appendix**.

3. Results

Project 1: Functional TRPV1 channels in the murine renal vasculature

The TRPV1agonist capsaicin relaxed mouse mesenteric arteries and isolated mouse perfused kidneys with anEC₅₀ of 25nM and 23nM, but large mouse renal arteries or rat descending vasa recta only at >100-fold higher concentrations. The vasodilatory effect of capsaicin in the low-nanomolar concentration range was endothelium-dependent and absent in vessels of *Trpv1* -/- mice.

Anesthetized C57BL/6 mice were subjected to 25 min of renal ischemia and 24 hrs of reperfusion. Mice were pretreated with capsaicin (0.3 mg/kg body weight) or capsazepine (50 mg/kg body weight). Capsaicin ameliorated the outcome of AKI, as measured by serum creatinine levels, tubular damage,neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) abundance and Ly-6B.2 positive polymorphonuclear inflammatory cells in injured kidneys. Neither capsazepine nor deficiency of TRPV1 did deteriorate renal function or histology after AKI.

Project 2: Functional TRPV4 channels in the murine renal vasculature The TRPV4 agonist GSK1016790A relaxed large conducting renal arteries, mesenteric arteries and vasa recta withEC50 of 18, 63nM and ~10 nM respectively. These effects were endothelium-dependent and inhibited by a TRPV4 antagonist, AB159908 (10µM). GSK1016790A produced vascular dilation in isolated mouse perfused kidneys with EC50 of 3 nM and the effects were inhibited in *Trpv4 -/-* kidneys.

Project 3: K_V7.1 channels in renal arteries

R-L3 produces similar concentration-dependent relaxations (EC50 ~1.4 μ M) of wild-type (*Kcnq1+/+*) and *Kcnq1-/-* arteries pre-contracted with either phenylephrine or 60 mM KCI. This relaxation was not affected by 10 μ M chromanol 293B, 10 μ M HMR1556 or 30 μ M XE991 (pan-K_V7 blocker).

4. Discussion

This study provides several new findings regarding the function and expression of TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels in the renal vasculature. First, functional TRPV1 channels are present in renal resistance arteries of mice as indicated by measurements in isolated kidneys, but they are nonfunctional in renal conduit arteries. Second, functional TRPV4 channels are expressed in both renal resistance arteries and renal conduit arteries. Third, the vasodilatory effect of capsaicin at low nanomolar concentrations is absent in arteries of Trpv1-/- mice. In contrast, the vasorelaxant effect of GSK1016790A is observed in mesenteric and renal resistance arteries of Trpv1-/- mice, but not in *Trpv4-/-* mice, indicating that the TRPV1- and TRPV4-mediated vasodilations are not functionally coupled. Nevertheless, endothelial NOS seems to be a common downstream mediator of both TRPV4- and TRPV1-dependent vasodilations, as indicated by our experiments using NG-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride(L-NAME). Fourth, these findings provide compelling evidence that K_V7.1 channels do not contribute to vascular contraction in mouse mesenteric and renal arteries. A striking loss of functional K_V7.1 channels in R-L3 induced relaxations was observed. Fifth, this study showed for the first time that I/R-induced AKI is not affected by inhibition of TRPV1 channels.

4.1 TRPV1 in the kidney

Recent preclinical data indicate that activators of TRPV1 may improve the outcome of ischemic AKI³⁷. Although a number of derivatives of arachidonic acid (AA), such as 5-,12-, and 20-lipoxygenase products, cytochrome P450 epoxygenase products (epoxyeicosatrienoic acids), and N-acyl dopamine conjugates of AA, have been identified as endogenous activators ("endovanilloids") of TRPV1², their roles as TRPV activators in AKI are unclear. Activation of TRPV1 in the kidney *in vivo* or in isolated perfused kidneys increases the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and enhances renal sodium and water excretion³⁸.

The present studies failed to detect functional TRPV1 channels in large renal arteries and DVR of kidneys. Instead, the findings revealed an additional role of TRPV1 in the renal circulation, namely in regulating preglomerular vascular resistance. This function is critical for the regulation of systemic blood pressure and may provide a mechanistic explanation for the stimulating effect of capsaicin on the GFR. Future

studies are needed to clarify the role of TRPV1 channels and endogenous "vanilloids," such as the TRPV1 agonist 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE)², in hypertension and renal I/R injury. These results indicate that the role of TRPV1 channels in renal resistance vasculature should be considered in future studies. The renal resistance vasculature includes interlobular, afferent, and efferent resistances, so each of these vessels could serve as a putative target for TRPV1 action. Future studies should determine whether the distribution of functional TRPV1 channels is restricted to certain resistance vessels.

Ischemic acute renal failure is a frequent clinical syndrome with high morbidity and mortality³⁹. Recent preclinical data indicate that activators of TRPV1 can improve the outcome of ischemic AKI^{22,23,24}. In the present study, an isolated kidney I/R mouse model of AKI was used to study the effects of pharmacological inhibition of TRPV1 channels (using capsazepine) and genetic ablation of TRPV1 (using Trpv1-/- mice). For comparison, the effects of TRPV1 stimulation (using the TRPV1 agonist capsaicin) were studied. The results demonstrated that inhibition of TRPV1 channels does not affect the outcome of I/R-induced renal injury. Evaluation of three injury parameters demonstrated that TRPV1 inhibition does not cause harm in I/R-induced AKI. Although the relatively high concentration of capsaicin used in this study to activate TRPV1 in vivo may have additional effects not related to TRPV1, measurements of the three injury parameters demonstrated a beneficial role of capsaicin in I/R-induced AKI as previously reported by other groups for capsaicin and other TRPV1 agonists^{22,23,24}. There were consistently fewer Ly-6B.2-positive cells in kidneys after I/R in capsaicin-treated mice. The beneficial effects of capsaicin may involve release of a substance from TRPV1-expressing nerve endings that exerts a protective action against I/R-induced kidney injury. One interesting candidate is somatostatin^{40,41}, which can act as an autocrine "endovannilloid" to modulate peripheral TRPV1 receptors^{42,43}. To date, somatostatin has not been implicated in AKI. In addition, the measurements of other endovanilloids⁴⁴ in kidney tissue demonstrate that anandamide and/or 9,10- and 11,12-epoxides of linoleic acid (EpOMEs/DiHOMES), but not 20-HETE or epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), are possible candidates involved in the beneficial effects of capsaicin on the outcome of I/Rinduced AKI. Although EpOMEs/DiHOMES⁴⁵ and anandamide analogs/receptor agonists⁴⁶ have been recently suggested as novel therapeutic targets in AKI, these data suggest that future studies on their roles in AKI should consider TRPV1 signaling pathways to understand their molecular actions.

These data are consistent with previous results demonstrating that systemic activation of TRPV1 channels by capsaicin or other agonists mitigates I/R-induced AKI^{22,23,24}. There are concerns that this procedure may harm the kidney's ability to respond to ischemic stimuli later in life² because long-term clinical results on patients who have undergone this procedure are not yet available⁴⁷.

4.2 TRPV4 in the kidney

Northern blot analysis revealed strong expression of TRPV4 in the kidney; however, the regional distribution of functional TRPV4 channels in the renal vasculature is unknown⁴⁸. The present results demonstrate that the TRPV4 agonist GSK1016790A produces endothelium-dependent relaxation of renal and mesenteric arteries. These effects were inhibited by the TRPV4-selective antagonist AB159908, suggesting that the vasodilatory effects of GSK1016790A are dependent on activation of TRPV4 channels. Moreover, GSK1016790A produced relaxation of resistance arteries and DVR in kidneys. Although the DVR experiments were performed in rats and may not represent the function of the vasa recta in mice, the lack of the capsaicin effect in rat DVR is not because arteriolar TRPV1 channels of this species have atypical capsaicin pharmacology⁴⁹. The results of this study showed that GSK10167790A effects occurred at similar concentrations in both species. These results indicate a lack of functional TRPV1 channels in the DVR.

Taken together, these results also indicate that functional TRPV4 channels are widely distributed in the renal vasculature. The distribution of functional TRPV4 in the DVR may be therapeutically exploitable to target the "reflow phenomenon" in AKI or sepsis-associated vasoconstriction in the kidney. These ideas require experimental testing in future studies. Notably, vasorelaxant effects of GSK1016790A were observed in mesenteric and renal resistance arteries of *Trpv1-/-* mice, but not of *Trpv4-/-* mice. These results suggest that TRPV4 channel gating occurs independently of TRPV1 channels. Thus, endothelial TRPV4 and TRPV1 channels present novel therapeutic targets in the kidney, each of which can be independently targeted by TRP modulators.

The role of eNOS/NO in TRPV4-mediated vasodilation is a matter of debate. The present data suggest that eNOS plays an important role in TRPV4-mediated vasodilation of renal vessels. The involvement of NO in TRPV4 effects has been reported in a number of different arteries and species, including 1st order mouse mesenteric arteries⁵⁰, rat pulmonary arteries⁵¹, and rodent aortas⁵². In contrast,

Sonkusare et al.¹⁰ and Marrelli et al.⁵³ studied small mouse mesenteric arteries (similar to our study) and rat middle cerebral arteries, and they found that NO does not play a major role in TRPV4-dependent relaxation of these vessels. Differences in vessel type and species may account for the apparent differences in vascular TRPV4 signaling to produce vasodilation⁵². Lastly, the present results indicate that functional TRPV4 channels, but not TRPV1, are present in DVR providing medullary blood supply into the kidney.

4.3 K_V7.1 channels in renal arteries

The results of these studies indicate that $K_V7.1$ channels do not contribute to vascular contraction in mouse renal arteries. No functional role of $K_V7.1$ channels in R-L3 induced relaxations was observed. Thus, $K_V7.1$ channels are apparently not involved in controlling arterial tone by alpha1 adrenergic vasoconstrictors. In addition, R-L3 is not an appropriate pharmacological tool for studying the function of native vascular $K_V7.1$ channels in mice.

In conclusion, K_V7.1 channels do not contribute to vascular contraction in mouse renal arteries.TRPV4 channels are capable of promoting endothelial relaxation in renal resistance arteries, renal conduit arteries, and medullary vasa recta, whereas functional TRPV1 channels have a more narrow, discrete distribution, namely in the renal resistance vasculature. Because TRPV1 and TRPV4 have unique sites of vasoregulatory function in the kidney, targeted activation of TRPV1 or TRPV4 may provide a promising novel strategy for modulating regional blood flow in this organ. For a complete description of the result and discussion see:

Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke WB, Kuebler WM, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A, and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481–91.

Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu KY, and Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014; 9(10): e109842.

Tsvetkov D, Kaßmann M, Tano JY, **Chen L**, Schleifenbaum J, Voelkl J, Lang F, Huang Y, and Gollasch M. Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? British Journal of Pharmacology. 2017;174(2):150–162.

5. Bibliography

- 1. Nilius B. TRP channels in disease. Biochim Biophys Acta.2007;1772:805-12.
- Kassmann M, Harteneck C, Zhu Z, Nurnberg B, Tepel M, Gollasch M. Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), TRPV4, and the kidney. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2013;207: 546-64.
- Rayamajhi S, Contractor T, Wang DH. The potential of TRPV1 agonists for treating ischemia/reperfusion-induced renal injuries. Curr Opin Investig Drugs.2009;10: 963-70.
- 4. Wang M, Ji P, Wang R, Zhao L, Xia Z. TRPV1 agonist capsaicin attenuates lung ischemia-reperfusion injury in rabbits. J Surg Res.2012;173: 153-60.
- Wang Y, Wang DH. Aggravated renal inflammatory responses in TRPV1 gene knockout mice subjected to DOCA-salt hypertension. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.2009;297: F1550-9.
- Yang D, Luo Z, Ma S, Wong WT, Ma L, Zhong J, He H, Zhao Z, Cao T, Yan Z, Liu D, Arendshorst WJ, Huang Y, Tepel M, Zhu Z. Activation of TRPV1 by dietary capsaicin improves endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation and prevents hypertension. Cell Metab. 2010;12: 130-41.
- Ching LC, Zhao JF, Su KH, Shyue SK, Hsu CP, Lu TM, Lin SJ, Lee TS. Activation of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 decreases endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation at Thr497 by protein phosphatase 2B-dependent dephosphorylation of protein kinase C. Acta Physiol (Oxf).2013;209:124-35.
- Saliez J, Bouzin C, Rath G, Ghisdal P, Desjardins F, Rezzani R, Rodella LF, Vriens J, Nilius B, Feron O, Balligand JL, Dessy C. Role of caveolar compartmentation in endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor-mediated relaxation: Ca2+ signals and gap junction function are regulated by caveolin in endothelial cells. Circulation.2008;117: 1065-74.
- Mendoza SA, Fang J, Gutterman DD, Wilcox DA, Bubolz AH, Li R, Suzuki M, Zhang DX. TRPV4-mediated endothelial Ca2+ influx and vasodilation in response to shear stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.2010;298: H466-76.
- 10.Bagher P, Beleznai T, Kansui Y, Mitchell R, Garland CJ, Dora KA. Low intravascular pressure activates endothelial cell TRPV4 channels, local Ca2+ events, and IKCa channels, reducing arteriolar tone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109: 18174-9.
- 11.Sonkusare SK, Bonev AD, Ledoux J, Liedtke W, Kotlikoff MI, Heppner TJ, Hill-Eubanks DC, Nelson MT. Elementary Ca2+ signals through endothelial TRPV4

channels regulate vascular function. Scienc. 2012;336: 597-601.

- 12.Zhang DX, Gutterman DD. Transient receptor potential channel activation and endothelium-dependent dilation in the systemic circulation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.2011;57: 133-9.
- 13. Yeung SY, Pucovsky V, Moffatt JD, Saldanha L, Schwake M, Ohya S, Greenwood IA. Molecular expression and pharmacological identification of a role for K(v)7 channels in murine vascular reactivity. Br. J. Pharmacol. 2007;151: 758–70.
- 14.Ng FL, Davis AJ, Jepps TA, Harhun MI, Yeung SY, Wan A, Reddy M, Melville D, Nardi A, Khong TK, Greenwood IA. Expression and function of the K+ channel KCNQ genes in human arteries. Br. J. Pharmacol. 2011;162:42–53.
- 15.Chadha PS, Zunke F, Davis AJ, Jepps TA, Linders JT, Schwake M, Towart R, Greenwood IA. Pharmacological dissection of K(v)7.1 channels in systemic and pulmonary arteries. Br. J. Pharmacol. 2012;166:1377–87.
- 16. Ditting T, Freisinger W, Siegel K, Fiedler C, Small L, Neuhuber W, Heinlein S, Reeh PW, Schmieder RE, Veelken R. Tonic postganglionic sympathetic inhibition induced by afferent renal nerves? Hypertension. 2012;59: 467–476.
- 17. Wang Y, Chen AF, Wang DH. ET(A) receptor blockade prevents renal dysfunction in salt-sensitive hypertension induced by sensory denervation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;289: H2005–11.
- 18.Xie C, Wang DH. Effects of a high-salt diet on TRPV-1-dependent renal nerve activity in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. Am J Nephrol. 2010;32: 194–200.
- Krum H, Schlaich M, Whitbourn R, Sobotka PA, Sadowski J, Bartus K, Kapelak B, Walton A, Sievert H, Thambar S, Abraham WT, Esler M. Catheter-based renal sympathetic denervation for resistant hypertension: a multicentre safety and proof-of-principle cohort study. Lancet.2009;373: 1275–1281.
- 20. Baines AD. Nervous disorders of renal function. Clin Biochem. 1983;16: 134–140.
- 21. Iaina A, Eliahou HE. The sympathetic nervous system in the pathogenesis of acute renal failure. Clin Exp Dial Apheresis. 1983;7: 115–125.
- 22. Ueda K, Tsuji F, Hirata T, Takaoka M, Matsumura Y. Preventive effect of TRPV1 agonists capsaicin and resiniferatoxin on ischemia/reperfusion-induced renal injury in rats. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2008;51: 513–520.
- 23.Ueda K, Tsuji F, Hirata T, Ueda K, Murai M, Aono H, Takaoka M, Matsumura Y. Preventive effect of SA13353 [1-[2-(1-adamantyl)ethyl]-1-pentyl-3-[3-(4pyridyl)propyl]urea], a novel transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 agonist, on

ischemia/reperfusion-induced renal injury in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2009;329: 202–209.

- 24. Tsagogiorgas C, Wedel J, Hottenrott M, Schneider MO, Binzen U, Greffrath W, Treede RD, Theisinger B, Theisinger S, Waldherr R, Krämer BK, Thiel M,Schnuelle P, Yard BA, Hoeger S. N-octanoyl-dopamine is an agonist at the capsaicin receptor TRPV1 and mitigates ischemia-induced [corrected] acute kidney injury in rat. PLoS One. 2012;7: e43525.
- 25. Maggi CA, Bevan S, Walpole CS, Rang HP, Giuliani S. A comparison of capsazepine and ruthenium red as capsaicin antagonists in the rat isolated urinary bladder and vas deferens. Br J Pharmacol. 1993;108: 801–805.
- 26. Walpole CS, Bevan S, Bovermann G, Boelsterli JJ, Breckenridge R, Davies JW, Hughes GA, James I, Oberer L, Winter J. The discovery of capsazepine, the first competitive antagonist of the sensory neuron excitants capsaicin and resiniferatoxin. J Med Chem. 1994;37: 1942–1954.
- 27. Wang L, Wang DH. TRPV1 gene knockout impairs postischemic recovery in isolated perfused heart in mice. Circulation. 2005;112: 3617–3623.
- 28. Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke W. B, Kuebler W. M, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481-91.
- 29. Fesus G, Dubrovska G, Gorzelniak K, Kluge R, Huang Y, Luft FC, Gollasch M. Adiponectin is a novel humoral vasodilator. Cardiovasc Res. 2007;75: 719-27.
- 30.Mederos y Schnitzler M, Storch U, Meibers S, Nurwakagari P, Breit A, Essin K, Gollasch M, Gudermann T. Gq-coupled receptors as mechanosensors mediating myogenic vasoconstriction. EMBO J. 2008;27:3092-103.
- 31.Sendeski M, Patzak A, Persson PB. Constriction of the vasa recta, the vessels supplying the area at risk for acute kidney injury, by four different iodinated contrast media, evaluating ionic, nonionic, monomeric and dimeric agents. Invest Radiol. 2010;45:453-7.
- 32.Klose C, Straub I, Riehle M, Ranta F, Krautwurst D, Ullrich S, Meyerhof W, Harteneck C. Fenamates as TRP channel blockers: mefenamic acid selectively blocks TRPM3. Br J Pharmacol. 2011;162: 1757-69.
- 33. Giani JF, Burghi V, Veiras LC, Tomat A, Muñoz MC, Cao G, Turyn D, Toblli JE, Dominici FP. Angiotensin-(1-7) attenuates diabetic nephropathy in Zucker

diabetic fatty rats. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2012;302: F1606–15.

- 34.Hoff U, Lukitsch I, Chaykovska L, Ladwig M, Arnold C, Manthati VL, Fuller TF, Schneider W, Gollasch M, Muller DN, Flemming B, Seeliger E, Luft FC, Falck JR, Dragun D, Schunck WH. Inhibition of 20-HETE synthesis and action protects the kidney from ischemia/reperfusion injury. Kidney Int. 2011;79: 57–65.
- 35. Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu K.Y, Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014 ; 9(10):e109842.
- 36.Iliff JJ, Fairbanks SL, Balkowiec A, Alkayed NJ. Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids are endogenous regulators of vasoactive neuropeptide release from trigeminal ganglion neurons. J Neurochem. 2010;115: 1530–1542.
- Rayamajhi S, Contractor T, Wang DH. The potential of TRPV1 agonists for treating ischemia/reperfusion-induced renal injuries. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2009; 10:963-70.
- 38.Li J & Wang DH. Role of TRPV1 channels in renal haemodynamics and function in Dahl salt-sensitive hypertensive rats. Exp Physiol. 2008; 93: 945-53.
- 39. Thadhani R, Pascual M, Bonventre J V. Acute renal failure. N Engl J Med. 1996;334: 1448–1460.
- 40. Helyes Z, Szabó A, Németh J, Jakab B, Pintér E, Bánvölgyi A, Kereskai L, Kéri G, Szolcsányi J. Antiinflammatory and analgesic effects of somatostatin released from capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerve terminals in a Freund's adjuvant-induced chronic arthritis model in the rat. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50: 1677–1685.
- 41. Helyes Z, Elekes K, Németh J, Pozsgai G, Sándor K, Kereskai L, Börzsei R, Pintér E, Szabó A, Szolcsányi J. Role of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 receptors in endotoxin-induced airway inflammation in the mouse. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2007;292: L1173–81.
- 42.Gorham L, Just S, Doods H. Somatostatin 4 receptor activation modulates TPRV1 currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neurosci Lett. 2014;573: 35–39.
- 43.Carlton SM, Zhou S, Du J, Hargett GL, Ji G, Coggeshall RE. Somatostatin modulates the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) ion channel. Pain. 2004;110: 616–627.
- 44. Morales-Lázaro SL, Simon SA, Rosenbaum T. The role of endogenous molecules in modulating pain through transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1). J Physiol.2013;591: 3109–3121.
- 45. Lee JP, Yang SH, Lee HY, Kim B, Cho JY, Paik JH, Oh YJ, Kim DK, Lim CS, Kim

YS.Soluble epoxide hydrolase activity determines the severity of ischemiareperfusion injury in kidney. PLoS One. 2012;7: e37075.

- 46. Feizi A, Jafari M-R, Hamedivafa F, Tabrizian P, Djahanguiri B. The preventive effect of cannabinoids on reperfusion-induced ischemia of mouse kidney. Exp Toxicol Pathol.2008; 60: 405–410.
- 47. Warchoł-Celińska E, Prejbisz A, Florczak E, Kądziela J, Witkowski A, Januszewicz A.
 Renal denervation current evidence and perspectives. Postep w Kardiol interwencyjnej = Adv Interv Cardiol. 2013;9: 362–368.
- 48. Everaerts W, Sepulveda MR, Gevaert T, Roskams T, Nilius B, De Ridder D. Where is TRPV1 expressed in the bladder, do we see the real channel? Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.2009;379:421-5.
- 49. Czikora A, Lizanecz E, Bako P, Rutkai I, Ruzsnavszky F, Magyar J, Porszasz R, Kark T, Facsko A, Papp Z, Edes I, Toth A. Structure-activity relationships of vanilloid receptor agonists for arteriolar TRPV1. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:1801-12.
- 50. Zhang DX, Mendoza SA, Bubolz AH, Mizuno A, Ge ZD, Li R, Warltier DC, Suzuki M, Gutterman DD. Transient receptor potential vanilloid type 4-deficient mice exhibit impaired endothelium-dependent relaxation induced by acetylcholine in vitro and in vivo. Hypertension. 2009;53: 532-8.
- 51. Sukumaran SV, Singh TU, Parida S, Narasimha Reddy Ch E, Thangamalai R, Kandasamy K, Singh V, Mishra SK. TRPV4 channel activation leads to endotheliumdependent relaxation mediated by nitric oxide and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in rat pulmonary artery. Pharmacol Res. 2013; 78: 18-27.
- 52. Willette RN, Bao W, Nerurkar S, Yue TL, Doe CP, Stankus G, Turner GH, Ju H, Thomas H, Fishman CE, Sulpizio A, Behm DJ, Hoffman S, Lin Z, Lozinskaya I, Casillas LN, Lin M, Trout RE, Votta BJ, Thorneloe K, Lashinger ES, Figueroa DJ, Marquis R, Xu X. Systemic activation of the transient receptor potential vanilloid subtype 4 channel causes endothelial failure and circulatory collapse: Part 2. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008;326:443-52.
- 53. Marrelli SP, O'Neil R G, Brown RC, Bryan RM Jr. PLA2 and TRPV4 channels regulate endothelial calcium in cerebral arteries. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;292:H1390-7.

Affidavit

I, Lan Chen, certify under penalty of perjury by my own signature that I have submitted the thesis on the topic Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels in the murine renal vasculature. I wrote this thesis independently and without assistance from third parties, I used no other aids than the listed sources and resources.

All points based literally or in spirit on publications or presentations of other authors are, as such, in proper citations (see "uniform requirements for manuscripts (URM)" the ICMJE www.icmje.org) indicated. The sections on methodology (in particular practical work, laboratory requirements, statistical processing) and results (in particular images, graphics and tables) correspond to the URM (s.o) and are answered by me. My contributions in the selected publications for this dissertation correspond to those that are specified in the following joint declaration with the responsible person and supervisor. All publications resulting from this thesis and which I am author of correspond to the URM (see above) and I am solely responsible.

The importance of this affidavit and the criminal consequences of a false affidavit (section 156,161 of the Criminal Code) are known to me and I understand the rights and responsibilities stated therein.

Date

Signature

Declaration of any eventual publications

Lan Chen had the following share in the following publications:

Publication 1:

Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke WB, Kuebler WM, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A, and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481–91.

Contribution in detail:

Help in design of experimental protocols, preparation of vessels, isometric contraction force measurements in mouse arteries, kidney perfusion, analysis and interpretation of data, writing the first draft of the manuscript, interpretation of results, and literature searches.

Publication 2:

Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu KY, and Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014;9(10):e109842.

Contribution in detail:

Help in design of experimental protocols, preparation of vessels, isometric contraction force measurements in mouse arteries, kidney perfusion, analysis and interpretation of data, writing the first draft of the manuscript, manuscript revisions, interpretation of results, and literature searches.

Publication 3:

Tsvetkov D, Kaßmann M, Tano JY, **Chen L**, Schleifenbaum J, Voelkl J, Lang F, Huang Y, and Gollasch M. Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? British Journal of Pharmacology. 2017;174(2):150–162. Contribution in detail:

Help in design of experimental protocols, preparation of vessels, contributions to experiments, writing the manuscript, and analysis and interpretation of data.

Signature, date and stamp of the supervising university teacher Prof. Dr. med. Dr. rer. nat. Maik Gollasch

Signature of doctoral student Lan Chen

Selected publications

Publication #1: Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. (pages 25-35)

Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke W. B, Kuebler W. M, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481-91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/apha.12355

Due to copyright infringement, the original article will not appear in the online version. For further detail, please refer to the original article online using the citation (see above).

Publication #2 : Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury.(pages 36-45)

Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu K.Y, Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014 ; 9(10):e109842. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109842

Due to copyright infringement, the original article will not appear in the online version. For further detail, please refer to the original article online using the citation (see above).

Publication #3: Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? (pages 46-58)

Tsvetkov D, Kaßmann M, Tano J.Y, **Chen L,** Schleifenbaum J, Voelkl J, Lang F, Huang Y, and Gollasch M. Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? British Journal of Pharmacology. 2017;174(2):150-162.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bph.13665

Due to copyright infringement, the original article will not appear in the online version. For further detail, please refer to the original article online using the citation (see above).

Curriculum Vitae

Due to privacy settings, the CV will not be displayed in the online version of this document.

Complete list of publications

- Chen L, Kaßmann M, Sendeski M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L, Michalick L, Riehle M, Liedtke W. B, Kuebler W. M, Harteneck C, Tepel M, Patzak A and Gollasch M. Functional TRPV1 and TRPV4 channels along different segments of the renal vasculature. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213(2):481-91.
- Chen L, Marko L, Kaßmann M, Zhu Y, Wu K.Y, Gollasch M. Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PlosOne. 2014 ; 9(10):e109842.
- Chen L, Ling Y.S, Lin C.H and Guan T.J. Combined use of heparin and anisodamine reduces the risk of early thrombosis in native arteriovenous fistula. Vascular.2013; 21(6): 369–374.
- Chen L, Ling YS, Lin CH, He JX, Guan TJ. High dose ESAs are associated with high iPTH levels in hemodialysis patients with end-stage kidney disease: a retrospective analysis. Front Public Health. 2015;18;3:258.
- Chen L, Chen YY, Ling Y.S, Lin C.H, He JX and Guan T.J. Investigation of optimum N-terminal probrain natriuretic peptide level in patients on maintained hemodialysis. Renal failure. 2017;39(1):372-378.
- Tsvetkov D, Kaßmann M, Tano J.Y, Chen L, Schleifenbaum J, Voelkl J, Lang F, Huang Y, and Gollasch M. Do KCNQ1 channels contribute to control of arterial vascular tone? British Journal of Pharmacology. 2017;174(2):150-162.
- 7. Ke SK, **Chen L**, Duan HB, Tu YR. Opposing actions of TRPV4 channel activation in the lung vasculature. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2015 Dec;219:43-50.

Acknowledgements

At this point, I would like to thank all those who have supported me during the preparation of this work.

My special thanks to my supervisor and thesis supervisor Prof. Dr. med. Dr. rer. nat. Maik Gollasch for providing this work. Thank you for the support, motivation, discussions, patience, and confidence to complete this project together.

I want to thank the group of AG Gollasch, especially Mario Kaßmann, Lajos Marko, and Dmitry Tsvetkov, for help, advice, and a friendly working atmosphere. I thank IstvanAndras Szijarto, Yoland-Marie Anistan, and Kai-yin Wu for expert technical support.

Finally, I would like to thank the most important people in my life, my family. Without their support and love, this work and many others would not have been possible.